

Law Enforcement Actions in Urban Spaces Governed by Violent Non-State Entities: Lessons from Latin America

Vanda Felbab-Brown The Brookings Institution

September 2011

APPLIED RESEARCH CENTER

THE WESTERN HEMISPHERIC SECURITY ANALYSIS CENTER

WHEMSAC brings together a versatile and important Latin American network of traditional and non-traditional security experts from academia, business sectors, government ministries and private organizations. Its research capabilities provide Western Hemispheric leaders with a unique, real-time research and analysis on current issues. WHEMSAC is an innovative institutional model for conducting professional qualitative and quantitative research throughout the Americas at the national, regional and international levels within an open, independent, multi-disciplinary, and collaborative academic environment. The fusion of open source political, economic, and social expertise allows WHEMSAC to provide an exceptional, qualified approach to regional security insight with traditional intra-governmental analysis.

WESTERN HEMISPHERIC SECURITY ANALYSIS CENTER SPONSORS

The **Applied Research Center** advances the research and academic mission of Florida International University. ARC's focus is to solve real-world problems through multi-disciplinary research collaborations within the University's increasingly talented applied and basic research units. It is uniquely structured and staffed to allow for free-flowing exchange of ideas between the University's applied researchers, academia, government, private sector and industry partners. The ARC's vision is to be the leading international university-based applied research institution providing value-driven, real-world solutions, which will enable FIU to acquire, manage, and execute educationally relevant and economically sound research programs. That vision is based on the Center's core values of respect for the environment, health and safety of all individuals, creativity and innovation, service excellence, and leadership and accountability. The Applied Research Center is organized into three core research units: Environment; Energy, and Security and Development. Under the leadership of its Executive Director, the Center reports to FIU's Office of Sponsored Research Administration. An External Advisory Board, encompassing leaders from the private and public sectors, participates actively in the Center's growth and development. The Florida International University Applied Research Council, a team of University deans, executives and faculty guide the development of the Center's programs.

Florida International University is Miami's first and only four-year public research university with a student body of more than 40,000. It is one of the 25 largest universities in the nation. FIU's colleges and schools offer nearly 200 bachelor's, master's and doctoral programs in fields such as international relations, law and engineering. As one of South Florida's anchor institutions, FIU has been locally and globally engaged for more than four decades finding solutions to the most challenging problems of our time. FIU emphasizes research as a major component of its mission. The opening of the Herbert Wertheim College of Medicine in August 2009 has enhanced the university's ability to create lasting change through its research initiatives. Overall, sponsored research funding for the university (grants and contracts) from external sources for the year 2008-2009 totaled approximately \$101 million.

The **United States Southern Command** (USSOUTHCOM) is one of ten unified Combatant Commands (COCOMs) in the Department of Defense. It is responsible for providing contingency planning, operations, and security cooperation for Central and South America, the Caribbean, and their territorial waters; as well as for the force protection of U.S. military resources at these locations.

The National Defense Center for Energy and the Environment (NDCEE) provides reliable and sustainable solutions to the US Department of Defense in areas ranging from contingency operations to global climate change and greenhouse gas reduction to safety and occupational health. These solutions increase mission readiness and improve the health and safety of our Armed Forces both at home and abroad. The NDCEE provides project management and technical support to the WHEMSAC Program.

The views expressed in the official policy or	this research paper are position of the US Gove Command or Florida I	ernment, Department	nd do not necessarily reflect of Defense, US Southern ty.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	5
Introduction	8
The Twin State-Making Challenge	10
Retaking Territory	12
What Clearing Means: Arrests?	13
Who Provides Intelligence?	16
What Clearing Means: Displacement of Criminals?	18
Sustaining Security	19
Timing the Handover	20
Establishing the Local Community's Trust	21
Establishing Oversight Mechanisms	22
Standing Up Community Police Forces	23
Holding and Tackling "New" Crime	23
Conclusions	27
Works Cited	28
About the Author	29
WHEMSAC Publications	

Executive Summary

In response to a crime epidemic afflicting Latin America since the early 1990s, several countries in the region have resorted to using heavy-force police or military units to physically retake territories *de facto* controlled by non-State criminal or insurgent groups. After a period of territory control, the heavy forces hand law enforcement functions in the retaken territories to regular police forces, with the hope that the territories and their populations will remain under the control of the state. To a varying degree, intensity, and consistency, Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, and Jamaica have adopted such policies since the mid-1990s.

During such operations, governments need to pursue two interrelated objectives: to better establish the state's physical presence and to realign the allegiance of the population in those areas toward the state and away from the non-State criminal entities. From the perspective of law enforcement, such operations entail several critical decisions and junctions, such as:

- Whether or not to announce the force insertion in advance. The decision trades off the element of surprise and the ability to capture key leaders of the criminal organizations against the ability to minimize civilian casualties and force levels. The latter, however, may allow criminals to go to ground and escape capture. Governments thus must decide whether they merely seek to displace criminal groups to other areas or maximize their decapitation capacity.
- Intelligence flows rarely come from the population. Often, rival criminal groups arethe best source of intelligence. However, cooperation between the State and such groups that

goes beyond using vetted intelligence provided by the groups, such as a State tolerance for militias, compromises the rule-of-law integrity of the State and ultimately can eviscerate even public safety gains.

- Sustaining security after initial clearing operations is at times even more challenging than conducting the initial operations. Although unlike the heavy forces, traditional police forces, especially if designed as community police, have the capacity to develop trust of the community and ultimately focus on crime prevention, developing such trust often takes a long time.
- To develop the community's trust, regular police forces need to conduct frequent on-foot patrols with intensive nonthreatening interactions with the population and minimize the use of force. Moreover, sufficiently robust patrol units need to be placed in designated beats for substantial amount of time, often at least over a year.
- Establishing oversight mechanisms, including joint police-citizens' boards, further facilitates building trust in the police among the community.
- After the disruption of the established criminal order, street crime often significantly rises and both the heavy-force and community-police units often struggle to contain it. The increase in street crime alienates the population of the retaken territory from the state. Thus developing a capacity to address street crime is critical.
- Moreover, the community police units tend to be vulnerable (especially initially) to efforts by displaced criminals to reoccupy the cleared territories. Losing a cleared territory back to criminal groups is extremely costly in terms of losing any established trust and being able to recover it. Rather than operating on an a priori determined handover schedule, a careful assessment of the relative strength of regular police and the

criminal groups post-clearing operations is likely to be a better guide for timing the handover from heavy forces to regular police units.

Cleared territories often experience not only a peace dividend, but also a peace deficit –in the rise new serious crime (in addition to street crime). Newly-valuable land and other previously-inaccessible resources can lead to land speculation and forced displacement; various other forms of new crime can also significantly rise. Community police forces often struggle to cope with such crime, especially as it is frequently linked to legal businesses. Such new crime often receives little to no attention in the design of the operations to retake territories from criminal groups. But without developing an effective response to such new crime, the public safety gains of the clearing operations can be altogether lost.

Introduction

To an unprecedented degree, Latin Americans complain about living in fear of crime. With the exception of Colombia, criminal activity throughout the region has exploded. Rates of violent crime are six times higher in Latin America than in the rest of the world. El Salvador frequently ranks as one of the countries with the highest murder rate in the world, with 57.3 per 100,000 in 2007. In 2006, Colombia's murder rate was 42.8 per 100,000, and Venezuela's 36.4 per 100,000 in 2007, and Brazil's 20.5 in 2008. Over 11,200 people died in drug-related violence in Mexico in 2010. Kidnapping in the region is also frequent.

Organized crime is one of the principal sources of the violence. But street crime also flourishes in the region and frequently receives far less attention from the region's governments. Two decades of efforts to improve and reform law-enforcement institutions in the region often have little to show in improvements in public safety and accountability of law enforcement.

The response of Latin American countries to the crime epidemic has varied. Some, such as in Central America, have adopted the so-called *mano dura* (iron-fist) policies. Several countries have ultimately resorted to using heavy-armed police or outright military forces to retake

¹See, for example, Jorge Sapoznikow et al., "Convivencia y Seguridad: Un Reto a la Gobernabilidad" (Coexistence and Security: A Challenge to Governability", Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, DC: 2000, and Centro Nacional de Datos, Fondelibertad, Ministrio de Defensa Nacional, República de Colombia, "Cifras Extorsión" (Extortion Rates), June 20, 2007; available from

www.antisecuestro.gov.co/documentos/7_16_2007_4_58_07_PM_CifrasHistorias.pdf, accessed May 17, 2008.

² "Murder Rate Among Youths Soars in Brazil," *The Washington Post*, February 24, 2011. Since data collection, reporting mechanisms, and strength of law enforcement varies greatly among Latin American countries and many murders go unreported and undetected, there are limits to the accuracy of the data. Moreover, data are not always available for the same year for all countries.

³"Ejecutómetro 2010" (Metrics of Execution 2010), *Reforma*, December 27, 2010; *Grupo Reforma* statistics cited in Transborder Institute, *Justice in Mexico News Report*, August 2011, www.justiceinmexico.org.

territories with weak state presence and essentially governed by criminal groups or illegal militias (and in the case of Colombia, by an insurgent group). This article presents some of the key law enforcement lessons from retaking such urban spaces ruled by criminal groups.

Brazil adopted such an approach in Sao Paolo and Rio de Janeiro in the 2000s. Rio's Pacification Policy (UPP) toward the poor and crime-ridden favelas (slums) especially has received widespread attention. In Mexico, President Felipe Calderón deployed the military to Mexico's streets to take over law enforcement functions in many of the country's cities, including Ciudad Juárez and Tijuana. In Colombia's Medellín, the counterinsurgency and anti-crime policies in the 2000s also follow similar patterns. President Álvaro Uribe first sent the military to the city in 2002 to retake the poor *comunas* ruled by the leftist guerrilla group the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia (the FARC). That allowed the crime lord-cum-paramilitary leader Don Berna to consolidate his control over the criminal markets in the city. In the latter part of the 2000s, Don Berna was imprisoned and ultimately extradited to the United States. The Tivoli Gardens neighborhood of Kingston, Jamaica has been ruled for several decades by drug gangs linked to Jamaica's political parties, including since the 1990s by the drug lord Christopher "Dudus" Coke. When in 2010 the Jamaican Prime Minister Bruce Golding finally yielded to U.S. pressure to arrest Coke and extradite him to the United States, he resorted to sending a heavy force to the Tivoli Garden in an operation that resembled more urban warfare than a standard police arrest.

Between December 2009 and April 2011, I have conducted fieldwork in all the places mentioned above, with the exception of Jamaica. The goal of my research was to study the design and

effectiveness of the law enforcement approaches adopted in those places. For that purpose, I interviewed local government officials, police and military officers, academics and think tank experts, NGO representatives, journalists, residents of the poor neighborhoods, and, when possible, also members of the drug gangs and criminal groups operating in those areas. The lessons presented below are derived from this fieldwork. For the case of Jamaica, I rely on written analyses of other scholars.

The Twin State-Making Challenge

When dealing with urban areas pervaded by illicit economies and violent criminality and inadequate State presence, where organized non-State actors *are* present, the government needs to pursue two interrelated objectives: First, it needs to better establish its own physical presence. In some cases, such as, for example, in Rio's *favelas*, such an assertion (or even insertion) of State authority may require retaking territory that has been physically controlled by violent non-State entities. In other cases, establishing such presence may entail demonstrating that the preponderance of physical power, if not actually monopoly on violence, lies with the State and its law enforcement apparatus.

Second, the government needs to realign the allegiance of the population in those areas toward the State and away from the non-State criminal entities. For that, its presence needs to be not only robust, but also multifaceted and positive. In urban areas of inadequate State presence, great poverty, and social and political marginalization, large populations, numbering in the tens of thousands to over a million, are dependent on illicit economies, including the drug trade, for economic survival and the satisfaction of their other socio-economic needs. For many,

participation in informal economies, if not outright illegal ones, is the only way to provide for their security and achieve social advancement, even as they continue to exist in a trap of insecurity, criminality, and marginalization. By sponsoring such illicit economies and using proceeds from them to deliver otherwise absent socio-economic goods and other public goods, non-State entities, such as criminal gangs, drug trafficking organizations, or urban militias, step into the stateless void. Paradoxically, these non-State entities often provide at least a modicum of security for the residents of the areas they control. Yes, they are the sources of insecurity and crime in the first place, but they often regulate the level of violence, suppress street crime, such as robberies, thefts, kidnapping, and even homicides. Their ability and motivation to provide public goods varies, of course, but such provision often takes place regardless of whether the non-State entities are politically-motivated actors or criminal enterprises.⁴ This explains how even non-ideological criminal groups can obtain and enjoy a great degree of political capital.⁵The more they deliver order, security, and economic goods, the more they become de facto proto-State governing entities.

Obtaining trust and allegiance of the community is frequently a complex task that requires appropriate policies and time. If the community had previously experienced primarily negative manifestations of the State -- such as violent repression against criminal groups, suppression of illegal economies but no provision of legal livelihoods, or social stigmatization -- it will be deeply mistrustful of greater State presence.

_

⁴ For some of the dimensions of how such delivery of public goods by non-State entities varies, see Vanda Felbab-Brown, *Shooting Up: Counterinsurgency and the War on Drugs* (Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution, 2009).

⁵ For details, see, Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Human Security and Crime in Latin America: The Political Capital and Political Impact of Criminal Groups and Belligerents Involved in Illicit Economies," (WHEMSAC Monograph, Florida International University, Applied Research Center, September 2011).

Efforts to pacify violent and neglected urban areas thus parallel many aspects of population-centric counterinsurgency. Drawing such a parallel can be politically very sensitive in Latin America, where allusions to counterinsurgency (COIN) policy can conjure up vivid and painful memories of the region's anticommunist counterinsurgency campaigns. However, the realization that some policies to combat urban violence mimic aspects of population-centric COIN policies does not imply that the State that faces violent urban challenges has failed. It does indicate that COIN and consolidation policies in places, such as Colombia or even more distant and very different locales, such as Afghanistan and Pakistan, may nonetheless provide some important lessons.

Retaking Territory

In all the cases listed above, the government ultimately resolved that it had to physically "retake" the problematic urban space from non-State entities. In many of the cases, the government adopted such a policy only after other measures had been applied, often over many decades, such as physically blocking off and then ignoring the festering areas, negotiating multiple iterations of *modus vivendi* with the non-State entities controlling the urban space, or buying them off with political handouts.

When retaking or clearing operations have been employed since the 1990s in Latin America, these have usually involved the insertion of "special" forces to supplement or at least temporarily replace regular police forces deemed to be too incompetent or corrupt to redress the levels of violent criminality that plague the community. Such physical retaking of urban space may have

different connotations in different urban contexts: In Rio de Janeiro, the police had often been physically blocked off by the drug gangs from entering the *favelas* and, apart from highly violent raids into the poor neighborhoods, remained altogether absent. In the slums of Sao Paolo, the police were not as completely denied entry, but their presence consisted merely of sporadic and ineffective patrols. In the *colonias* of Ciudad Juárez, the police, although present to some extent, still were ineffective and unmotivated to roll back the control of the Drug Trafficking Organizations.

What Clearing Means: Arrests?

The underlying concept of the clearing operations is that either military forces or SWAT-type police forces retake the urban spaces from criminal groups and then, after a period of time of suppressing the local non-State entities, hand law enforcement responsibilities for the urban spaces back to regular police forces. To the extent that military forces in particular are deployed, they need to be deployed with a very clear operational mandate as to their specific task in the clearing operations: Are they supposed to merely protect police forces, with the latter remaining in charge of arrests and investigations? Are they only to patrol the streets, on the assumption that such patrols will reduce the violence, or are they also mandated to capture designated high-value targets?

Not specifying the military's role to such a detailed level will limit the effectiveness of its operations and complicate interagency cooperation. Mexico since 2006 provides ample examples

of such problems with an underspecified mandate for the use of military forces for domestic law enforcement operations.⁶

A primary question that needs to be answered in preparing such a clearing operation is whether or not to announce the force insertion in advance. Announcing the raid in advance, as for example the government of Jamaica did when it finally decided to arrest Christopher "Dudus" Coke, can be an important mechanism for mitigating violence levels, limiting collateral damage, and minimizing other harms to the community. For example, advance warning can allow citizens to escape the crossfire by moving out of town for the duration of the operation. (Such population displacements even when actually temporary entail their own tough consequences and costs.) Prior announcements of clearing operations may also enhance the transparency of law enforcement actions, an outcome that can be a building block toward constructing the community's trust in the government. Such transparency can be particularly important in areas where previous police incursions have been highly violent and brutal. And the early warning may deter the criminal gangs from resisting the law enforcement actions, once they appreciate the full scope and preponderance of State power they will face.

However, such announcements come with costs. They can allow the criminal groups to dig in and develop defenses, preventing law enforcement forces from being able to capitalize on the element of surprise. Such surprise often critically facilitates capturing key leaders of criminal

⁶ See, Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Addressing Organized Crime, Drug Trafficking, and Violence in Mexico: Lessons from Tijuana, Ciudad Juárez, and Michoacán," section "Ciudad Juárez and the Evolution of Mexico's Security Policy," Brookings Institution, September 2011.

⁷ For details on Jamaica's drug gangs, their relationship to political parties, and the 2010 operation to arrest Coke, see Desmond Arias, "The Impact of Organized Crime on Governance and Statebuilding," Center for International Cooperation, New York University, forthcoming Dec. 2011.

groups. Even worse, it can induce members of the criminal groups to melt into the population or move to other areas for the duration of specialized forces presence. Government forces may find it extraordinarily difficult to sift through population, identify members of the criminal gangs, and locate its reputed leaders -especially where members of the criminal gangs come from the community, enjoy at least a degree of its support, and have a superior knowledge of the local urban terrain. Because the criminal organizations may have accumulated substantial political capital with the local population and because the population may fear violent reprisals for cooperating with law enforcement forces, the local population often tends to be extremely reluctant to provide actionable intelligence that can lead to the arrest of key leaders. Thus, Brazil's BOPE forces, as the heavily-equipped military-like police forces there are known, had to struggle to identify and arrest gang members during the clearing operations in Sao Paolo and in Rio, even though the BOPE tried to interrogate virtually every single male in some of the retaken shantytowns and impose population controls. When the local population provides intelligence at all, it is usually in areas where a gang had previously alienated the community through the use of violence that surpasses typical norms in the area.

Accordingly, policymakers need to carefully assess, on a case-by-case basis, the extent to which *not* announcing an operation in advance will facilitate making arrests that critically weaken the criminal groups and can help anchor State presence in the community. Such assessments need to consider how easy it is for the criminal groups to generate new effective leadership and how much the government's own violent tactics will alienate the community from the state. The fact that someone is the number one or two or three in a criminal group does not mean that arresting him (or her, in some cases) would result in the collapse of the criminal group. Many so-called

high-value targets (HVTs) should rather be thought of as high-visibility targets instead of having a real interdiction value in the sense that their arrests will severely limit the regeneration and leadership capacity of the criminal group. Historically, criminal groups have been able to replace their captured leaders rather easily, far more so than terrorist groups. Mexico has been learning this painful lesson over the past five years.

Who Provides Intelligence?

Frequently, intelligence flows during clearing operations come from rival criminal groups or militias. In Tijuana, for example, during the military operations in the late 2000s, the Sinaloa DTO allegedly was particularly effective in taking advantage of the government-installed hotline to provide information on its rivals. In Medellín in the early 1990s, the Cali cartel and Los Pepes, a militia precursor to the later *Autodefensas Unidas de Colombia* (AUC) paramilitary forces, provided critical intelligence on Pablo Escobar's Medellín cartel and physically cooperated with Colombia's security forces in the Medellín cartel's destruction. In a similar way, Medellín crime lord Don Berna cooperated with the Colombian military in destroying the presence of the FARC in the city in 2002. It would be foolish of course not to take advantage of such intelligence flows, especially as other criminal entities may have far superior knowledge of the targeted criminal group than the government. However, intelligence from such sources needs to be very carefully vetted.

_

⁸ See, Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Addressing Organized Crime, Drug Trafficking, and Violence in Mexico: Lessons from Tijuana, Ciudad Juárez, and Michoacán," section "The Tijuana Law Enforcement Model and Its Limitations," Brookings Institution, September 2011.

⁹ For details, see Vanda Felbab-Brown, "The Violent Drug Market in Mexico and Lessons from Colombia," Brookings Institution, March 2009,

http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Files/rc/papers/2009/03 mexico drug market felbabbrown/03 mexico drug market_felbabbrown.pdf.

Moreover, relying on or sanctioning the physical actions of criminal groups or militias against other violent non-State entities tend to come with severe costs for the state and society. Both in Colombia and in Rio de Janeiro, where such groups emerged in the 2000s, the militias' ability to deliver real security was limited. They often repressed the rival criminal or insurgent group only as much as was necessary to minimally satisfy their State or business sponsors and they turned out to be extremely abusive toward the community. They took over various forms of extortion and criminal activity and provided even fewer public goods and services to the marginalized community than did the criminal or insurgent entities they displaced. Even when the Colombian State or the Rio de Janeiro municipal authorities and business elite found themselves less threatened by the new criminal order, the community in the marginalized urban space often suffered greater physical abuse and socio-economic privation than before.

Moreover, apart from the inherent violations of the rule of law and citizens' human rights, the control of such actors presents a huge challenge to the State. Since the late 2000s in Medellín, for example, even after Don Berna was extradited to the United States, the remnants of his criminal militias have physically targeted ex-FARC combatants who have gone through the reintegration process sponsored by the Colombian government, de facto preventing them from living in Medellín and undermining the government's security policy. In Mexico in the 1980s and 1990s, the DTOs managed by the government's law enforcement agencies were able to corrupt and completely eviscerate these agencies. More often than not, places as diverse as Medellín, Ciudad Juárez, Mogadishu, and Karachi have learned that the State-tolerated militias/criminal

¹⁰ Author's interviews in Medellín, January 2011.

groups over time start disobeying their political and State overlords. At times, they even try to become the powerholders dictating the terms of business and politics.

What Clearing Means: Displacement of Criminals?

Displacement of criminal groups to other areas is also costly. Often the State lacks the capacity to inject sufficient law enforcement forces to all areas. Instead of achieving an spreading ink-spot of security (with the zone of effective public safety steadily expanding), clearing operations may essentially amount to a shell game, with violent criminality and its associated social ills moving to other areas of weak state presence. To an important degree, such displacement is taking place in Rio de Janeiro under the current UPP policy, for example, with violent criminal gangs and violent criminal enterprises relocating from the *favelas* near the city center to the southern outskirts of the city.

Even if only a relocation of the criminals is taking place, the State may prefer such an outcome if the clearing operations retake a particularly strategic area, such as a city center. Since city centers tend to be areas where business elites operate and sometimes live, the State may have some legitimate reasons to prioritize such areas. If the urban business elite decide to move away, as is, for example, happening in Acapulco today, such an exodus may lead to a brain drain and capital fight. That can in turn undermine both the administrative capacity of local authorities and the legal economy and hence, job generation and fiscal revenues of the city. Insecure business elites who enjoy important political power may be particularly effective advocates of the use of heavy-handed, human-rights-insensitive crime suppression measures, such as the various *mano dura* approaches that have proliferated around Latin America. Business elites may also be highly

motivated and tend to be well-positioned to sponsor illegal militias that go beyond private security companies. Such extralegal "anti-crime" groups generate their own criminality, deeply undermine citizens' security, and weaken the Sate in the long run. Thus enhancing public safety in the city center may be a well-placed priority for the State. But without a credible plan to expand public safety provision to less privileged citizens and areas beyond the city center, merely pacifying the city center is insufficient. In the worst outcome, the government's actions can spread violent criminality without achieving adequate improvement anywhere.

Sustaining Security

The other serious consequence of allowing criminals to temporarily go to ground as a result of announcing clearing operations in advance is that when the heavy police forces leave the retaken territory, the regular police forces may not be able to hold the territory. The regular police forces may be unable able to cope with a highly violent effort on the part of the criminal groups to take the territory. For example, since the BOPE forces left Cidade de Deus, one of Rio's famous *favelas* and one of the first to be treated to the UPP policy, and security there was transferred to the UPP community police, rumors have circulated several times that the Comando Vermelho gang was massing forces to push out the UPP police and reoccupy the *favela*. Although fortunately such a takeover has not materialized, the mere rumors have frightened the community sufficiently to limit extensive cooperation with the government.¹²

Even if criminals are pushed out from the city center to the outskirts or if a *cordon sannitaire* can be established around selected strategic areas, the effects of insecurity in the outskirts, such as

 $^{\rm 12}$ Author's interviews in Rio de Janeiro, January 2010.

-

from extortion driving legal enterprises out of businesses, may leak back into the city center, undermining security achievements in the prioritized zones. Thus the selection of what problematic urban areas will be selected for law enforcement action needs to be guided by a strong focus on the sustainability of the security to be provided in those spaces, rather than, for example, on the basis of the intensity of violence in an area or its electoral significance.

The insertion of heavy police or outright military force almost always tends to be temporary –for two basic reasons: First, the State often lacks sufficient numbers of such forces to cover all the areas in-need with a sufficiently-high troop density to achieve preponderance of power. Second, the heavy-handed use of force has other important shortcomings – in terms of civil liberties and human rights protection, but also in terms of developing local intelligence. Even when actually subject to substantial human rights training, a rare occurrence for heavy police and military forces in Latin America, the SWAT forces are built specifically to project great force. For that reason and because their personnel are alien to the retaken community, they often have to struggle to establish trust, develop deep knowledge of the community, and generate local intelligence.

Timing the Handover

Timing the handover to regular police forces -- ideally, community police -- however, is complex. In some cases, such as in the Sao Paolo operations, the BOPE forces were inserted into the shantytowns with a specific timetable: they were expected to be present for about eight weeks after which law enforcement would be handed over to regular police forces. In other places, such as in Ciudad Juárez, the duration of the deployment of the military forces was not

specified in advance. However, the departure of the military forces from Ciudad Juárez was driven far more by a negative reaction of the residents to the excesses of the military forces and by the failure of the military forces to reduce violence levels in the city, than by their success in doing so. If the heavy forces are pulled out prematurely and the cleared area is again retaken by violent criminal entities, the ability of the State to generate trust in its law enforcement a second time around will be greatly undermined. Rather than operating on an a priori determined handover schedule, a careful assessment of the criminal groups' strength remaining after clearing operations and of the capacity of regular police forces is likely to be a better guide for the handover. However, the goal should be to minimize the duration, extent, and lethality of the heavy forces as much as possible.

Establishing the Local Community's Trust

Unlike heavy-force law enforcement units, regular police forces, especially if designed as community police, can have the capacity to develop the trust of and support from the local population. Thus they potentially have the capacity to move away from crime suppression solely toward crime prevention. However, for them to develop such capacity, they need to solve intelligence problems that are different from those of units designed for the capture of high-value criminal targets. Instead of having the vetted, insulated and small intelligence units needed for the latter, community police forces need to have a permanent and widespread presence within the community. They need to conduct frequent, often on-foot patrols. A permanent police station in an urban slum where the police play cards inside the station and rarely venture outside among the slum residence will not be able to develop much local knowledge and intelligence capacity.

Moreover, sufficiently robust patrol units need to be placed in designated beats for substantial amount of time, often at least over a year. Without a robust presence, without a sufficient density of police officers per neighborhood, the beat patrols will feel vulnerable and may be tempted to retreat to the police station. Concentrating police resources, including police patrol presence, may well be politically difficult, but it is necessary.

In order to get to know the criminals, the local police patrols need to get to know the community and interact with it frequently and in a nonthreatening manner. The UPP forces in Rio de Janeiro have been operating under such guidelines, and at least in some "pacified" *favelas* have been began developing the trust of the community. ¹³Colombia too has been unveiling an urban policing plan built upon such principles, called *Plan Nacional de Vigiliancia Comunitaria por Cuadrantes*; but it is too early to assess the effectiveness of the policy.

Establishing Oversight Mechanisms

Apart from having a sufficient density of police officers and sufficient intensity of nonthreatening interactions with the community, establishing the trust of the local community also requires setting up oversight and accountability mechanisms of police forces. Such mechanisms include establishing joint citizen-police boards that allow experts and community representatives to provide input to law enforcement and mandating reporting and careful examination of violent police actions. In Great Britain or the United States, for example, police officers often have to file a report every time they discharge their weapons.

_

¹³ Author's interviews in the Babylonia favela in Rio de Janeiro,

Standing Up Community Police Forces

Standing up police forces takes time. In the United States, regular police officers, for example, receive at least six months of training. In Mexico, where police reform is a major component of the security overhaul, many police officers receive only eight weeks of training. The quality of training – from how to handle a weapon to respect for human rights – also matters critically as does the post-training standard operating procedures and leadership of the units into which new recruits are placed. Even under auspicious circumstances, effective police reform often requires a decade: essentially a generation of officers needs to be promoted from beat cops to key leadership positions and commitment to police reform needs to be sustained during that period at all levels of the police hierarchy.

Conducting police reform during times of intense and highly violent criminal activity tends to be particularly problematic. Law enforcement becomes overwhelmed and its energies preoccupied with responding to crime (and sometimes even hanging on for dear life) and diverted away from reforms. Thus, if some urban areas register a decline in violent crime, the State needs to take advantage of such opportunities to deepen and strengthen police reform. Such an opportunity should not be missed even if such a decline in criminal violence came as a result of a truce among the criminal entities.

Holding and Tackling "New" Crime

Apart from preserving and enlarging the security generated by suppression of the previous criminal groups of the marginalized urban areas, the regular police forces also need to be able to suppress the street crime and new organized crime that are likely to emerge in the "pacified"

areas. The destruction of the previous criminal order does not mean that a benevolent crime-free order emerges in its wake.

Often, criminal groups function as security providers (suboptimal as they are), regulating and punishing theft, robberies, extortions, rapes and murders and dispensing their rules and punishments for transgressions. The removal of the criminal gangs often results in a rise of street crime that can become a critical nuisance to the community and discredit the presence of the State and its law enforcement. That has in fact been the case in both Medellín in the post-Don Berna order as well as in the pacified *favelas* of Rio. ¹⁴Especially in areas where police have been trained as light counterinsurgency forces (in Latin America, unlike South Asia, this is more often a problem in rural areas rather than in urban spaces) they may be undertrained, under-resourced, and not focused on addressing street crime. Even community-policing forces may have little capacity to undertake criminal investigations that lead to meaningful prosecution, yet police units specialized in criminal investigations may continue to be too far away and have limited access to a pacified urban space to conduct investigations that reduce street crime. Providing training to community police forces for tackling at least some street crime and streamlining and facilitating the presence of specialized criminal investigation units, such as homicide squads and prosecutors, are of critical importance for improving public safety for the community and for anchoring State presence in the pacified areas.

Under some circumstances, law enforcement actions against the governing criminal entity may give rise to intense turf warfare among other criminal groups over the spoils of the criminal market. After Don Berna was extradited to the United States, for example, many criminal gangs

1

¹⁴ Author's interviews in Rio de Janeiro, January 2010 and Medellín, February 2011.

in and around Medellín, including two large ones led by Sebastian and Valenciano, began fighting each other over smuggling routes, local drug distribution, prostitution enterprises, and protection rackets. The turf war triggered extensive violence, including homicide rates in over 100per 100,000 in the late 2000s and on par with those before the FARC was defeated in the city, and Don Berna established his "narco-peace". Similarly in Mexico, law enforcement actions against established DTOs triggered intense violence among splinter groups and new gangs, such as in the Mexican state of Michoacán where interdiction operations against La Familia Michoacana have given rise to Los Templarios. That criminal gang has since been battling with Los Zetas, another of Mexican DTOs originating as splinter group, over control of criminal markets in the state. Such turf wars can compromise the physical and economic security of local communities far more than even the previous criminal order.

In some circumstances, an urban area to which State presence has been extended may even suffer a peace deficit. Along with or instead of the hoped-for peace dividend of legal businesses moving into the urban space and providing legal jobs and income, the new areas may be attractive as a source of new land to be taken over by nefarious land developers. Such demands for land in the newly "pacified" urban areas may generate new forced land displacement, instead of benevolent gentrification. In rural spaces, the cause of such new illegal displacement may be the presence of profitable resources, such as gold, coal, and others, or the agricultural potential of the land, such as for African oil palm plantations. In urban spaces, housing development and real estate speculation may well drive such illegal displacement. Competition over State resources inserted to "pacified" areas, such as for socio-economic development, may generate new

¹⁵Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Reducing Urban Violence: Lessons from Medellín, Colombia," The Brookings Institution, February 14, 2011, http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2011/0214_colombia_crime_felbabbrown.aspx.

temptations of illegal behavior. Militias or new criminal groups seeking to set up new protection rackets and usurp the inserted State resources may well emerge. Many urban spaces in Colombia suffer from such old-new criminality today, as they have historically.

Local community forces, even while effective at keeping the old criminals out, may not have the capacity to prevent such nefarious activities cloaked as legal development. At the same time, criminal units specializing in white-collar organized crime and asset expropriation are often located in the city center of a State capital far away from the "pacified" slums and may be paying little attention to such phenomena in the newly-liberated spaces. Moreover, since such land takeover and asset expropriation may well be linked to legal and politically-powerful developers, municipal authorities may lack the motivation to pay close attention to such criminal developments in the "pacified" urban areas.

Yet without diligent and concerted law enforcement actions against such new crime, the benefits of the complex and costly State interventions in the marginalized urban areas may be altogether lost. Instead of addressing the causes of illegal economies and violent organized crime by strengthening effective and accountable State presence, the State intervention may ultimately only alter the manifestation of illegality and displace existing problems to other areas. Not only criminality and criminal gangs, but also the marginalized residents of the urban shantytowns themselves may merely be forced out to other slums.

Conclusions

Several key elements determine the effectiveness of law enforcement operations to retake urban spaces governed by violent non-State entities: the ability to develop intelligence for arrests of critical operators of the criminal groups and evidence for their effective prosecution, the ability to develop trust of the local community, such as by minimizing violence and establishing community police units, the ability to effectively address street and new organized crime likely to emerge post clearing operations, and the ability to sustain security after the heavy-force units depart. Apart from these modalities of the actual law enforcement operation, the success of increasing public safety in problematic urban neighborhoods cannot be divorced from the capacity to provide effective and speedy dispute resolution mechanisms and access to the justice system in the "pacified" spaces.

Ultimately, an effective State strategy toward organized crime is not merely one of law enforcement suppression of crime. Law enforcement plays a critical and indispensible role; it is the founding block of establishing effective State presence. But an appropriate response toward dealing with marginalized urban spaces is ultimately a multifaceted state-building strategy that seeks to strengthen the bonds between the State and marginalized communities.

Works Cited

- Arias, Desmond, "The Impact of Organized Crime on Governance and Statebuilding," Center for International Cooperation, New York University, forthcoming Dec. 2011.
- Centro Nacional de Datos, Fondelibertad, Ministrio de Defensa Nacional, República de Colombia, "Cifras Extorsión" (Extortion Rates), June 20, 2007; available from www.antisecuestro.gov.co/documentos/7_16_2007_4_58_07_PM_CifrasHistorias.pdf, accessed May 17, 2008.
- "Ejecutómetro 2010" (Metrics of Execution 2010), *Reforma*, December 27, 2010; *Grupo Reforma* statistics cited in Transborder Institute, *Justice in Mexico News Report*, August 2011, www.justicein mexico.org.
- Felbab-Brown, Vanda, "Addressing Organized Crime, Drug Trafficking, and Violence in Mexico: Lessons from Tijuana, Ciudad Juárez, and Michoacán," section "Ciudad Juárez and the Evolution of Mexico's Security Policy," Brookings Institution, September 2011. "Addressing Organized Crime, Drug Trafficking, and Violence in Mexico: Lessons from Tijuana, Ciudad Juárez, and Michoacán," section "The Tijuana Law Enforcement Model and Its Limitations," Brookings Institution, September 2011. ____. "Human Security and Crime in Latin America: The Political Capital and Political Impact of Criminal Groups and Belligerents Involved in Illicit Economies," (WHEMSAC Monograph, Florida International University, Applied Research Center, September 2011). "Reducing Urban Violence: Lessons from Medellín, Colombia," The Brookings Institution, February 14, 2011, http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2011/0214_colombia_crime_felbabbrown.aspx. Shooting Up: Counterinsurgency and the War on Drugs (Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution, 2009). "The Violent Drug Market in Mexico and Lessons from Colombia," The Brookings
- "Murder Rate Among Youths Soars in Brazil," *The Washington Post*, February 24, 2011.

brown/03 mexico drug market felbabbrown.pdf.

Institution, March 2009,

Sapoznikow, Jorge et al., "Convivencia y Seguridad: Un Reto a la Gobernabilidad" (Coexistence and Security: A Challenge to Governability", Inter-American Development Bank, Washington, DC: 2000.

http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Files/rc/papers/2009/03_mexico_drug_market_felbab

About the Author

Vanda Felbab-Brown is a Fellow in the 21st Century Defense Initiative and the Latin America Initiative in Foreign Policy at the Brookings Institution. She focuses on military conflict and illicit economies in South Asia, Burma, the Andean region, Mexico and Somalia. Felbab-Brown is the author of *Shooting Up: Counterinsurgency and the War on Drugs* (Brookings Institution Press, December 2009), which examines military conflict and illegal economies in Colombia, Peru, Afghanistan, Burma, Northern Ireland, India and Turkey. She has conducted fieldwork on these topics in some of the most dangerous parts of the world and is the author of numerous policy reports, academic articles and opinion pieces, including "Counterinsurgents in the Poppy Fields: Drugs, Wars, and Crime in Afghanistan," in *Peace Operations and Crime: Enemies or Allies*, James Cockayne and Adam Lupel, eds. (Routledge 2011); "Not as Easy as Falling off a Log: The Illegal Logging Trade in the Asia-Pacific Region and Possible Mitigation Strategies," Brookings, 2011; "The Disappearing Act: The Illicit Trade in Wildlife in Asia," Brookings, 2011; "Deterring Nuclear and Radiological Attacks by Terrorist Groups," Brookings Center on Arms Control Paper Series, 2010. She received her Ph.D. in Political Science from MIT.

WHEMSAC Publications

Phase II

Jairo Lugo-Ocando, "Silence by Stealth: Freedom of the Press and Polarization in Latin America." September 2011.

Harold A. Trinkunas, "Latin America: Nuclear Capabilities, Intentions and Threat Perceptions." September 2011.

Vanda Felbab-Brown, "Human Security and Crime in Latin America: The Political Capital and Political Impact of Criminal Groups and Belligerents Involved in Illicit Economies." September 2011.

Lilian Bobea, "Democratizing Violence: The Case of the Dominican Republic." August 2011.

Douglas Farah, "Mapping Transnational Crime in El Salvador: New Trends and Lessons from Colombia." August 2011.

Erich de la Fuente, "The Current State of Argentina's Oil Industry." August 2011.

Genaro Arriagada and Patricia I. Vásquez, "Perspectives on Latin America's Energy Security." August 2011.

Adriana Moreno Blanco, "Food Security in Latin America," August 2011.

Orlando J. Pérez, "The Basis of Support for Hugo Chávez: Measuring the Determinants of Presidential Job Approval in Venezuela." August 2011.

J. Mark Ruhl, "Guatemala: A Failing State?" July 2011.

Hugo Corrales Compagnucci, "Armed Groups and Violence in Paraguay." July 2011.

Luis Bitencourt, "The Security Challenges for the 2016: Rio de Janeiro Olympic Games." July 2011.

Carmen Rosa de León-Escribano, "Capabilities of Police and Military Forces in Central America: A Comparative Analysis of Guatemala, El Salvador, Honduras and Nicaragua." July 2011.

Rodolfo F. Robles-Montoya, "The Use of the Military for Law Enforcement Activities in Central America." June 2011.

Ivelaw Lloyd Griffith, "The Re-Emergence of Suriname's Désiré (Desi) Bouterse: Political Acumen and Geopolitical Anxiety." June 2011.

Paola Prado, "The Impact of the Internet in Six Latin American Countries." June 2011.

Harold Trinkunas, "International Bolivarianism and its Influence." June 2011.

David Scott Palmer and Alberto Bolívar, "Peru's Shining Path: Recent Dynamics and Future Prospects." May 2011.

Erich de la Fuente, "ALBA: A Political Tool for Venezuela's Foreign Policy." May 2011.

Norman Munroe, "Climate Change and Regions at Risk: A Look at Central America." May 2011.

Juan Pablo Sarmiento & Gabriela Hoberman, "Disaster Risk Management Disparity in the Caribbean: Evidence from Barbados, Dominican Republic, Jamaica and Trinidad and Tobago." May 2011.

Daniel E. Moreno, "The Indigenous in Plurinational Bolivia: Perceptions of Indigenous People in Bolivia Before and During the Morales Government." April 2011.

Raúl L. Madrid, "Indigenous Movements, Democracy, and U.S. Interests in Latin America." April 2011.

Thomas Bruneau, "An Analysis of the Implications of Joint Military Structures in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, and Colombia." April 2011.

Rut Diamint, Pablo Policzer and Michael Shifter, "Latin American Coups: Have They Vanished or Taken New Shapes?" March 2011.

Antonio L. Mazzitelli, "The New Transatlantic Bonanza: Cocaine on Highway 10." March 2011.

Carlos Pereira, "Brazil Under Dilma Rousseff: Similar Policy Directions Maintained." March 2011.

Patricio Navia, "Venezuela and Chile: Two opposite Paths of Democratic Consolidation and Economic Development." March 2011.

Miguel L. Castillo-Girón, "Land Ownership Transfers in Petén, Guatemala." February 2011.

ARC, "Latin America and the Caribbean in 2011 and Beyond." February 2011.

Iñigo Guevara Moyano, "Defense Expenditures: Argentina, Chile, Uruguay, and Paraguay." December 2010.

Bradley S. Porter, "Altered Landscapes or Arms Race? Making Sense of Military Spending in South America." November 2010.

Iñigo Guevara Moyano, "Defense Expenditure: Andean and Amazon Regions." November 2010.

Ambassador Peter DeShazo, "Consolidating Security and Development in Colombia: Lessons for Peru and Panama." November 2010.

Johanna Mendelson-Forman, "South American Defense Council: What it means for regional security?" November 2010.

Erich de la Fuente, "Cuba's Role in Venezuela's Control of the Internet and Online Social Networks." October 2010.

Marifeli Perez-Stable, "Raul Castro's Government: Recent Economic Reforms and Some Political Considerations." October 2010.

Iñigo Guevara Moyano, "Defense Expenditures: Central America and Dominican Republic." September 2010.

Hal Brands, "Criminal Fiefdoms in Latin America: Understanding the Problem of Alternatively Governed Spaces." September 2010.

ARC, "Honduras' Stressed Social Fabric: Instability and Risks." August 2010.

CTC and ARC, "Uranium in Latin America: Reserves, Energy, and Security Implications." August 2010.

John Proni, "Independent Monitoring of the Cuban Economic Zone Oil Development." July 2010.

Kristina Mani, "Military Entrepreneurship in Latin America: A Brief Overview." June 2010.

Bruce Bagley and Olga Nazario, "Lithium and Bolivia: The Promise and the Problems." June 2010.

Brian Fonseca, "Domestic Politics in the Dominican Republic after the Earthquake in Haiti." June 2010.

Student Papers Series

David Fields, "Two Decades Out of the Whirlpool: Past (and possible Future) United States Interventions in Latin America." September 2011.

Regina Joseph, "Rio and the Reds: The *Comando Vermelho*, Organized Crime and Brazil's Economic Ascent." September 2011.

Andreina Fernandez Fuenmayor, "The Rise of Native Voices Against Natural Resource Extraction in Latin America." September 2011.

Antoine Perret, "Private Security Trends and Challenges in Latin America." August 2011.

Phase I

Brian Fonseca, "Human Smuggling & The Terrorist-Criminal Nexus." January 2009.

Arturo Contreras and Francisco Ledantec, "General Overview of Transnational Threats in Latin America with a Special Focus in South America & Its Effect on International Security and US-Latin American Relations." December 2008.

Thomas Bruneau, "Civil Military Relations in Democratic Latin America." December 2008.

Brian Fonseca, "Identifying Opportunities for US-Cuba Military Cooperation." December 2008.

Harold A. Trinkunas, "Understanding Venezuelan Strategic Culture." December 2008.

Joanna Mateo, "US-Brazil: Forging a New Relationship." November 2008.

Joanna Mateo, "Las Maras in Honduras." November 2008.

Joanna Mateo, "Advancing Security Cooperation in the Americas: An Historical Perspective." August 2008.

Julio A. Cirino, "The Media Component in a Visual Culture and the Spread of Populism in Latin America: Exploring the Spiral of Silence." June 2008.

Brian Fonseca and Evan Ellis, "Emerging Relationships: China and Latin America." May 2008.

Joanna Mateo, "Gang Violence in Central America: The Case of Honduras. Identifying a Role for USSOUTHCOM." April 2008.

Anthony P. Maingot, "The New Geopolitics of the Andes: The Dangers of a State-on-State War." April 2008.

Joanna Mateo, "Health Threats to Stability in the Americas." February 2008.

Brian Fonseca, "Emerging Relationships: Iran & Latin America." February 2008.

Brian Fonseca, "Energy Outlook: Brazil." January 2008.

